
No. 19-1687 
______________________________ 

 
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE THIRD CIRCUIT 
______________________________ 

 
LISA FOLAJTAR 

 

Appellant, 
v. 

 

WILLIAM P. BARR, et al. 
 

Appellees. 
______________________________ 

 
Second Amendment As-Applied Challenge  

on Appeal from the United States District Court 
for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania 

Case No. 5:18-cv-02717 
______________________________ 

 
Reply-Brief of the Appellant 

______________________________ 
 

Joshua Prince, Esq. 
Adam Kraut, Esq., Of Counsel 
Civil Rights Defense Firm, P.C. 
646 Lenape Road 
Bechtelsville, PA 19505 
888-202-9297 (t) 
610-400-8439 (f) 
Counsel for Plaintiff-Appellant

Case: 19-1687     Document: 003113350420     Page: 1      Date Filed: 09/17/2019



ii  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

ARGUMENT ........................................................................................................... 1 

I. A Felony Conviction Does Not Automatically Foreclose a Successful As-
Applied Challenge ............................................................................................4 

a. Restoration of Rights ....................................................................................7 

b. Section 922(g)(1) cannot always be constitutional as-applied to Felons ...10 

c. Challenger’s conviction is insufficient to strip her of her 
constitutional right to keep and bear arms .................................................. 10 

CONCLUSION ...................................................................................................... 12 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE .................................................................. 14 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE ............................................................................ 16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case: 19-1687     Document: 003113350420     Page: 2      Date Filed: 09/17/2019



iii  

 
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

 

Cases 
Bannon v. U.S., 156 U.S. 464 (1895) ........................................................................6 
Binderup v. AG of United States, 836 F.3d 336 (3d Cir. 2016) (en banc) ......5, 7, 12 
District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570 (2008) ............................................5, 7 
Jerome v. United States, 318 U.S. 101 (1943) ..........................................................6 
Statutes 
18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(4) ................................................................................................4 
18 U.S.C. § 925(c) .....................................................................................................2 
Pub. L. 103-159, 107 Stat. 1536 ................................................................................2 
Pub. L. No. 115–141, 132 Stat. 348 ..........................................................................2 
Pub. L. No.110-180 ...................................................................................................4 
Other Authorities 
Don B. Kates, Jr., Handgun Prohibition and the Original Meaning of the Second 

Amendment, 82 Mich. L. Rev. 204 (1983) .............................................................7 
Regulations 
27 C.F.R. § 478.144 ...................................................................................................2 
28 C.F.R. § 25.1 .........................................................................................................2 
28 C.F.R. § 25.3 .........................................................................................................2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case: 19-1687     Document: 003113350420     Page: 3      Date Filed: 09/17/2019



1  

ARGUMENT 
 

The Government, in relation to the restoration of firearm rights of a 

convicted felon, asserts Congress has determined that it is difficult, impractical or 

otherwise dangerous to do such 1 and relies solely on a Senate Appropriations 

Committee Report from 1992 which stated federal firearms relief determinations 

“could have devastating consequences…if the wrong decision is made,” and a 

House Appropriations Committee Report from 1995, which claimed – devoid of 

any citation to statistics or supportive documentation – that “too many ... felons 

whose gun ownership rights were restored went on to commit violent crimes with 

firearms;” 2 thereby drawing into question the veracity or political purposes of the 

statements. Appellees conveniently leave out language appearing only one 

sentence later from the 1992 Senate Appropriations Committee, in relation to relief 

determinations, which proclaims “[u]nder current policy, States have authority to 

make these determinations and the Committee believes this is properly where the 

responsibility ought to rest.” 3 Based on that language, the Committee believed that 

relief should still be available to individuals, but that the states were better 

                                                
1 Appellees’ Brief at 3. 
2 Id.  
3 S. Rep. No. 102-353 at 20. 
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equipped to handle the determinations. This belief, however, overlooks those who 

were convicted of federal crimes, for which states would be unable to grant relief.  

Moreover, and perhaps most importantly in relation to the question of 

whether individuals who were granted relief later went on to commit violent 

crimes with firearms, Appellees ATF 4 and FBI 5 are in the unique position to 

provide statistical or documented proof of this claim but failed to provide any such 

supportive evidence. Even if, arguendo, the unsubstantiated statement does in fact 

hold true, is it in relation to those who were granted relief for prior felonies that 

were violent in nature? Or does it extend to those individuals convicted of non-

violent offenses, such as making a false statement on a tax return? In fact, if one 

were to accept the Government’s unsubstantiated claim, one must wonder why 

then ATF granted relief in 1992 – in the last relief determination that was 

                                                
4 Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 925(c) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.144, ATF is tasked with 
conducting federal firearms relief determinations. However, ATF no longer 
conducts these determinations for individuals because Congress has inserted 
language into the appropriations bill which states “[p]rovided further, That none of 
the funds appropriated herein shall be available to investigate or act upon 
applications for relief from Federal firearms disabilities under 18 U.S.C. 925(c).” 
See https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R44686.pdf at 24. See also The Consolidated 
Appropriations Act, 2018, Pub. L. No. 115–141, 132 Stat. 348. 
5 See Pub. L. 103-159, 107 Stat. 1536. See also 28 C.F.R. § 25.1 (“The Brady Act 
requires the Attorney General to establish a National Instant Criminal Background 
Check System (NICS) to be contacted by any licensed importer, licensed 
manufacturer, or licensed dealer of firearms for information as to whether the 
transfer of a firearm to any person who is not licensed under 18 U.S.C. 923 would 
be in violation of Federal or state law.”) and 28 C.F.R. § 25.3 (“There is 
established at the FBI a National Instant Criminal Background Check System.”). 
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performed before the Congress halted the use of appropriated funds for federal 

firearm relief determinations – to Jasper Irvin Dennison for felony income tax 

evasion (26 U.S.C. § 7201), David Timothy Fancher for felony mail fraud (18 

U.S.C. § 1341), Robert Eugene McCurdy felony passing counterfeit obligation (18 

U.S.C. § 472) and John Stanley Kraszewski, homicide by vehicle while DUI (75 

Pa.C.S. § 3732). See, 57 F.R. 6160-02. 6 And of the sixty-nine individuals granted 

relief in 1992, the undersigned has only been able to determine the underlying 

                                                
6 In the very prior grant of federal firearms relief, 56 F.R. 65926-03, ATF granted 
relief to Benjamin Roger Davis for felony possession of an unregistered 
machinegun (26 U.S.C. § 5861), Dorothy Marie Skrinjorich for felony false 
statements on a tax return (26 U.S.C. 7206), Sylvester Skrinjorich for felony false 
statements on a tax return (26 U.S.C. 7206), and Raymond Eugene Wetsell for 
felony destroying books and records of a labor organization and embezzlement of 
funds (29 U.S.C. §§ 439, 501).  

Once again, of the seventy-four individuals granted relief in 56 F.R. 65926-
03, the undersigned has only been able to determine the underlying convictions for 
four of the individuals. Thus, one must wonder how many more of the individuals 
granted relief in 56 F.R. 65926-03 were felons. It also bears noting that there were 
three other publications in the Federal Register in 1991 for federal firearm relief 
grants – 56 F.R. 36865, 56 F.R. 26713-02, and 56 F.R. 14971-01 – which granted 
relief to 239 individuals. Of those 239 individuals, the undersigned has only been 
able to acquire documentation regarding nine of the individuals and which, in 
relation to felonies, reflects that Jesse J. Beardsley was convicted of conspiracy to 
distribute cocaine (21 U.S.C. § 846), Aaron Kay Blossom was convicted of 
counterfeiting currency (18 U.S.C. § 471), Edward Francis Sullivan was convicted 
of income tax evasion (26 U.S.C. § 7201), Patrick Sidney Sullivan was convicted 
of income tax evasion (26 U.S.C. § 7201), Richard Francis Ward was convicted of 
burglary, Dennis James Reese was convicted of income tax evasions and false 
statements (18 U.S.C. § 1001, 26 U.S.C. § 7201), and Anthony James Krajacic was 
convicted of two counts of possessing and unregistered machinegun (26 U.S.C. § 
5861). 
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convictions for five of the individuals. Thus, one must wonder how many more of 

the individuals granted relief in 1992 were for felonies.   

Further, Congress passed the NICS Improvement Amendments Act of 2007 

(“NIAA”), Pub. L. No.110-180. While not directly on point, as NIAA pertains to 

mental health related issues, the Act required states create a relief from disabilities 

program as a condition of receiving federal grant money. 7 The relief was based on 

similar criteria that was found in the now-unfunded federal firearms relief 

determinations. 8 Thus, Congress clearly believes that it is possible to determine 

whether an individual may regain their Second Amendment rights, even after 

having been committed to a mental institution or adjudicated a mental defective. 9  

 
I. A Felony Conviction Does Not Automatically Foreclose a Successful As-

Applied Challenge 
 

 
Appellees state that “[b]ecause Congress itself has classified plaintiff's crime 

as a felony with a commensurate punishment, it is unnecessary to inquire further to 

determine the seriousness of the offense.” 10 That, however, is not what this 

Honorable Court held in Binderup v. AG of United States, 836 F.3d 336 (3d Cir. 

                                                
7 Pub. L. No. 110-180, § 105. 
8 Id. (“…person’s record and reputation, are such that the person will not be likely 
to act in a manner dangerous to public safety and that the granting of the relief 
would not be contrary to the public interest.”). 
9 See 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(4). 
10 Appellees’ Brief at 6.  
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2016) (en banc). First, as admitted by Apellees, this Court had “no occasion to 

address whether an offense labeled as a felony could ever be insufficiently serious 

to result in the loss of Second Amendment protection.” 11 Second, this Court stated 

that “[w]e are not confronted with whether an as-applied Second Amendment 

challenge can succeed where the purportedly disqualifying offense is considered a 

felony by the authority that created the crime...it is possible to read Heller to leave 

open the possibility, however remote, of a successful as-applied challenge by 

someone convicted of such an offense.” 12 Thus, under this Court’s binding 

precedent, the door for Ms. Folajtar’s challenge remains open. 

The Government argues “[t]he Second Amendment thus incorporates a 

common-law tradition that permits restrictions directed at citizens who are not 

‘law-abiding’ and ‘responsible’…” 13 However, “[c]onstitutional rights are 

enshrined with the scope they were understood to have when the people adopted 

them.” District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 634-35 (2008). 14 As 

discussed by the Amici Curiae, there was an understanding that the Constitution 

                                                
11 Id. at 9.  
12 Binderup, 836 F.3d at 353, fn. 6. (emphasis added). 
13 Appellees’ Brief at 8. 
14 Interestingly, Appellees do not respond to the fact, as raised in Appellant’s Brief 
at 9-10, that the Government’s contention in relation to Ms. Folajtar bears a certain 
irony, since, if it were understood at the time of Founding that a tax evasion 
offense would be sufficient to strip an individual of his/her right to keep an bear 
arms, our Founding Fathers would have been prohibited from possessing and 
utilizing the very arms they took up in opposition to our English overlords.  
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would prevent peaceable citizens from being disarmed and that peaceable did not 

necessarily equate to “law-abiding” but rather non-violent. 15 Further, and as 

acknowledged by the Supreme Court, “English common-law felonies 16 [only] 

consisted of murder, rape, manslaughter, robbery, sodomy, larceny, arson, 

mayhem, and burglary.” 17 As discussed in the Appellant’s principal brief, it was 

not until 1938, for the first time, that Congress codified a prohibition against 

certain felons that barred them from acquiring additional firearms and ammunition. 

18 It was not until 1961 that Congress levied a total ban on the possession of 

firearms and ammunition – to include firearms and ammunition already in 

possession of the individual – that applied to violent and non-violent felons alike. 

19 Thus, under a proper analysis which accounts for the scope of the right at the 

point in time in which it was adopted, 20 even certain convicted felons should still 

be able to possess firearms. 

 
                                                
15 Amicus Brief at 16-18.  
16 “The word ‘felony’ was used at common law to denote offenses which 
occasioned a forfeiture of the lands or goods of the offender, to which capital or 
other punishment might be superadded, according to the degree of guilt.” Bannon 
v. U.S., 156 U.S. 464, 467 (1895). (Internal citations omitted) 
17 Jerome v. United States, 318 U.S. 101, 108 n.6 (1943) citing Wayne R. LaFave, 
Criminal Law, § 2.1(b) (5th ed. 2010). 
18 Those persons included individuals under indictment, those convicted of a crime 
of violence and fugitives from justice. See Brief of the Appellant at 10. 
19 Id. at 11. 
20 It bears noting that 26 U.S.C. § 7206, the provision under which Ms. Folajtar 
pled guilty, was not adopted until 1954. See 68A Stat. 852. 
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a. Restoration of Rights 
 

Appellees argue that the reason “felony convictions are disqualifying rests 

on sound ‘historical justifications,’ Heller, 554 U.S. at 635, because ‘[f]elons 

simply did not fall within the benefits of the common law right to possess arms,’ 

Binderup, 836 F.3d at 349 (Ambro, J.) (quoting Don B. Kates, Jr., Handgun 

Prohibition and the Original Meaning of the Second Amendment, 82 Mich. L. Rev. 

204, 266 (1983)).” 21 However, as noted in Mr. Kates, Jr.’s article, the “law 

punished felons with automatic forfeiture of all goods, usually accompanied by 

death.” 22 In this instance, there is nothing to suggest that the “historical 

justification” would even be remotely applicable. As noted supra, English 

common-law felonies only consisted of murder, rape, manslaughter, robbery, 

sodomy, larceny, arson, mayhem, and burglary. Moreover, the term common law 

“felony” denoted offenses which allowed for the forfeiture of the lands or goods of 

the offender and to which capital or other punishment would be superadded. 

Notably missing from the list of common law felonies is failure to pay the King or 

failure to accurately advise the King as to the amount owed. 

Further, not only did Ms. Folajtar not forfeit all her goods or land as a 

punishment, a death sentence was not remotely close to being a proscribed penalty 

                                                
21 Appellees’ Brief at 10-11. 
22 Don B. Kates, Jr., Handgun Prohibition and the Original Meaning of the Second 
Amendment, 82 Mich. L. Rev. 204, 266 (1983) 
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for her conduct. Thus, an individual convicted of an offense similar or identical to 

that of Ms. Folajtar would not have forfeited their right to bear arms – in fact, as 

discussed supra, our Founding Fathers would have been prohibited from utilizing 

the very arms they took up in opposition to our English overlords, if failing to pay 

a tax to the King or failure to advise as to the correct amount of tax due to the King 

was such an offense. 

The Government attempts to analogize the loss of the right to keep and bear 

arms with that of a felon’s loss of their right to vote, right to serve on a jury, and 

right to hold public office. 23 However, not only does the comparison miss the 

mark, in many instances, it is not even accurate. According to the National 

Conference of State Legislatures in Maine and Vermont, felons never lose their 

right to vote, even while incarcerated; in 14 states and the District of Columbia, 

felons only lose their voting rights while incarcerated; in 22 states felons lose their 

voting rights while incarcerated and for a period of time after (such as parole or 

probation); and in only 12 states do felons lose their voting rights indefinitely, save 

for a Governor’s pardon or some additional time period after the successful 

completion of their sentence. 24 Nor does a felony conviction bar an individual 

                                                
23 Appellees’ Brief at 11.  
24 http://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/felon-voting-rights.aspx  
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from jury service in all cases. In fact, in 23 states, individuals convicted of felonies 

may be eligible to serve on a jury depending upon certain circumstances. 25  

Regardless, as discussed by Amici, “[v]iolent and potentially violent persons 

have historically been banned from keeping arms…the purpose was always the 

same: to disarm those who posed a danger.” 26 Further, Amici astutely provides 

examples of instances where individuals who were disarmed could have their 

rights restored. Even those who participated in Shay’s Rebellion, which included a 

series of “violent attacks on courthouses and other government properties” were 

allowed to keep and bear arms after a three-year period. 27  

Despite evidence to the contrary, Appellees continue assert that the passage 

of time or evidence of rehabilitation does not restore the Second Amendment rights 

of individuals convicted of “serious” crimes because there is no historical support. 

28 Historical evidence shows that individuals, even those who participated in a 

rebellion, were able to have their rights restored through the passage of time or 

evidence of rehabilitation.  

                                                
25 http://www.ncsc-
jurystudies.org/~/media/Microsites/Files/CJS/Jury%20News/JuryNews31-
1_ConvictedFelons.ashx (“While 27 states and the federal government bar 
convicted felons from the jury process permanently, remaining jurisdictions 
impose less severe, record-based juror eligibility criteria that vary significantly.”) 
26 Amici Brief at 29.  
27 Id. at 21.  
28 Appellees’ Brief at 14.  
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Ms. Folajtar’s false statement on a tax return is hardly a violent offense and 

the Appellees surely cannot point to a public danger that she would pose by 

possessing a firearm and ammunition based on such a conviction.   

 
b. Section 922(g)(1) cannot always be constitutional as-applied 

to Felons 
 

Appellees state that “[s]everal of [the] courts of appeals have ‘suggested 

§922(g)(1) is always constitutional as applied to felons as a class, regardless of 

their individual circumstances or nature of their offenses.’” 29 This “suggestion” 

flies in the face of constitutional considerations and common sense. If that were the 

case, a legislature could designate even the most miniscule offenses – such as a 

traffic infraction – as a felony, which would in turn allow for the divestment of 

individual’s constitutional right to keep and bear arms solely based on the 

“classification” of the offense, rather than its nature or circumstances.  

 
c. Challenger’s conviction is insufficient to strip her of her 

constitutional right to keep and bear arms   
 

 
The Government argues that while Ms. Folajtar urges this Court that her 

conviction is “hardly in the same league” as the Binderup plaintiffs, she has failed 

                                                
29 Appellees’ Brief at 12. (internal citations omitted).  
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to explain why her conviction is insufficiently serious to preclude disarmament. 30 

As explained extensively in the Appellant’s principal brief, “it is hard to fathom 

that one could mount a successful challenge to convictions for corruption of a 

minor and carrying a firearm without a license, but be precluded from bringing a 

successful challenge to the making a false statement in a tax return.” 31 Put another 

way, if having a relationship with a minor and carrying a firearm without a license 

are not sufficient to bar a person from exercising their Second Amendment rights, 

merely making a false statement on a tax return, which would likely result in less 

money being due to the government, should not reach that threshold either.  

As the Government confirms, and Ms. Folajtar raised in her principal brief, 

making false statements on a tax return has only been a crime since 1954. 32 Thus, 

it is hardly a longstanding prohibition, particularly in light of the time that elapsed 

since the ratification of the Constitution and the requirement to file tax returns. 

Further, the Government argues that “while Folajtar asserts that her crime’s 

seriousness should be judged based on laws regarding evasion of state taxes, the 

district court properly concluded that those state crimes have no bearing on the 

seriousness of Folajtar's federal felony.” 33 Accepting this statement as true would 

eviscerate the cross-jurisdictional analysis found in Binderup. Moreover, the 
                                                
30 Id. at 17. 
31	Brief of the Appellant at 16.	
32 Appellees’ Brief at 17. Brief of the Appellant at 11. 
33 Appellee’s Brief at 18.  
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Binderup opinion noted that “as in other constitutional contexts the Judicial Branch 

is charged with discerning ‘objective criteria reflecting the seriousness with which 

society regards [an] offense.’” 34 Thus, even though the federal government 

deemed the crime to be a felony, it is important to analyze whether the states have 

reach the same conclusion.  

 While the Government states that Ms. Folajtar does not explain why she 

would not be subject to Georgia’s statute, it is clear why it would not be applicable. 

Ms. Folajtar was charged with making a false statement on a tax return. The cited 

Georgia law does not enumerate a false statement and therefore the elements of the 

offense are not identical, as would be required for equivalency. Therefore, she 

would not fall under its purview. 

 
CONCLUSION 

 

For the foregoing reasons, and those specified in the Brief of the Appellant, 

the district court’s Order should be reversed and this matter remanded for further 

proceedings. In the alternative, Appellant requests this Court remand to the district 

court for an opportunity to amend her complaint.  

 

                                                
34 Binderup, 836 F.3d at 353, fn. 5. (internal citations omitted).  
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